#### **Table of Contents**

- Section 1. Purpose and Scope
- Section 2. Definitions
- Section 3. License Required
- Section 4. Application for License
- Section 5. Resident License
- Section 6. Examination
- Section 7. Exemptions from Examination
- Section 8. Nonresident License Reciprocity
- Section 9. License
- Section 10. Apprentice Public Adjuster License [Optional]
- Section 11. License Denial, Nonrenewal, or Revocation
- Section 12. Bond or Letter of Credit
- Section 13. Continuing Education
- Section 14. Public Adjuster Fees
- Section 15. Contract Between Public Adjuster and Insured
- Section 16. Escrow or Trust Accounts
- Section 17. Record Retention
- Section 18. Standards of Conduct of Public Adjuster
- Section 19. Reporting of Actions
- Section 20. Regulations
- Section 21. Severability
- Section 22. Effective Date

#### Section 1. Purpose and Scope

This Act governs the qualifications and procedures for the licensing of public adjusters. It specifies the duties of and restrictions on public adjusters, which include limiting their licensure to assisting insureds in first party claims.

Drafting Note: It is recommended that any statute or regulation inconsistent with this Act be repealed or amended.

**Drafting Note:** This Act also requires a report to the insurance commissioner of any action in another jurisdiction against either the public adjuster license or licensee.

#### Section 2. Definitions

- A. "Apprentice public adjuster" means the one who is qualified in all respects as a public adjuster except as to experience, education and/or training.
- B. "Business entity" means a corporation, association, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership or other legal entity.
- C. "Catastrophic disaster" according to the Federal Response Plan, means an event that results in large numbers of deaths and injuries; causes extensive damage or destruction of facilities that provide and sustain human needs; produces an overwhelming demand on state and local response resources and mechanisms; causes a severe long-term effect on general economic activity; and severely affects state, local and private sector capabilities to begin and sustain response activities. A catastrophic disaster shall be declared by the President of the United States or the Governor of the state or district in which the disaster occurred.

- D. "Fingerprints" for the purposes of this act, means an impression of the lines on the finger taken for purpose of identification. The impression may be electronic or in ink converted to electronic format.
- E. "Home state" means the District of Columbia and any state or territory of the United States in which the public adjuster's principal place of residence or principal place of business is located. If neither the state in which the public adjuster maintains the principal place of residence nor the state in which the public adjuster maintains the principal place of business has a substantially similar law governing public adjusters, the public adjuster may declare another state in which it becomes licensed and acts as a public adjuster to be the 'home state.'
- F. "Individual" means a natural person.
- G. "Person" means an individual or a business entity.
- H. "Public adjuster" means any person who, for compensation or any other thing of value on behalf of the insured:
  - (1) Acts or aids, solely in relation to first party claims arising under insurance contracts that insure the real or personal property of the insured, on behalf of an insured in negotiating for, or effecting the settlement of, a claim for loss or damage covered by an insurance contract;
  - (2) Advertises for employment as an public adjuster of insurance claims or solicits business or represents himself or herself to the public as an public adjuster of first party insurance claims for losses or damages arising out of policies of insurance that insure real or personal property; or
  - (3) Directly or indirectly solicits business, investigates or adjusts losses, or advises an insured about first party claims for losses or damages arising out of policies of insurance that insure real or personal property for another person engaged in the business of adjusting losses or damages covered by an insurance policy, for the insured.
- I. "Uniform individual application" means the current version of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Uniform Individual Application for resident and nonresident individuals.
- J. [Optional] "Uniform business entity application" means the current version of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Uniform Business Entity Application for resident and nonresident business entities.

Drafting Note: Subsection J is optional and would apply only to those states that have a business entity license requirement.

**Drafting Note:** If any term is similarly defined in a relevant section of the state's insurance code, do not include the definition of the term in this Act or, in the alternative, reference the statute: "[term] is defined in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation]."

## Section 3. License Required

A. A person shall not act or hold himself out as a public adjuster in this state unless the person is licensed as a public adjuster in accordance with this Act.

- B. A person licensed as a public adjuster shall not misrepresent to a claimant that he or she is an adjuster representing an insurer in any capacity, including acting as an employee of the insurer or acting as an independent adjuster unless so appointed by an insurer in writing to act on the insurer's behalf for that specific claim or purpose. A licensed public adjuster is prohibited from charging that specific claimant a fee when appointed by the insurer and the appointment is accepted by the public adjuster.
- C. A business entity acting as a public adjuster is required to obtain a public adjuster license. Application shall be made using the Uniform Business Entity Application. Before approving the application, the insurance commissioner shall find that:
  - (1) The business entity has paid the fees set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation; and
  - (2) The business entity has designated a licensed public adjuster responsible for the business entity's compliance with the insurance laws, rules and regulations of this state.

Drafting Note: Subsection C is optional and would apply only to those states that have a business entity license requirement.

- D. Notwithstanding subsection A through C, a license as a public adjuster shall not be required of the following:
  - (1) An attorney-at-law admitted to practice in this state, when acting in his or her professional capacity as an attorney;
  - (2) A person who negotiates or settles claims arising under a life or health insurance policy or an annuity contract;
  - (3) A person employed only for the purpose of obtaining facts surrounding a loss or furnishing technical assistance to a licensed public adjuster, including photographers, estimators, private investigators, engineers and handwriting experts;
  - (4) A licensed health care provider, or employee of a licensed health care provider, who prepares or files a health claim form on behalf of a patient; or
  - (5) A person who settles subrogation claims between insurers.

## Section 4. Application for License

- A. A person applying for a public adjuster license shall make application to the commissioner on the appropriate uniform application or other application prescribed by the commissioner. ]
- B. The applicant shall declare under penalty of perjury and under penalty of refusal, suspension or revocation of the license that the statements made in the application are true, correct and complete to the best of the applicant's knowledge and belief.
- C. In order to make a determination of license eligibility, the insurance commissioner is authorized to require fingerprints of applicants and submit the fingerprints and the fee required to perform the criminal history record checks to the state identification

#### Public Adjuster Licensing Model Act

bureau (or state department of justice public state agency) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) for state and national criminal history record checks; the insurance commissioner shall require a criminal history record check on each applicant in accordance with this Act. The insurance commissioner shall require each applicant to submit a full set of fingerprints in order for the insurance commissioner to obtain and receive National Criminal History Records from the FBI Criminal Justice Information Services Division.

- (1) The insurance commissioner may contract for the collection, transmission and resubmission of fingerprints required under this section. If the commissioner does so, the fee for collecting, transmitting and retaining fingerprints shall be payable directly to the contractor by the person. The insurance commissioner may agree to a reasonable fingerprinting fee to be charged by the contractor.
- (2) The insurance commissioner may waive submission of fingerprints by any person that has previously furnished fingerprints and those fingerprints are on file with the Central Repository of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC), its affiliates or subsidiaries.
- (3) The insurance commissioner is authorized to receive criminal history record information in lieu of the [insert reference to Department of Justice/Public Safety Agency] that submitted the fingerprints to the FBI.
- (4) The insurance commissioner is authorized to submit electronic fingerprint records and necessary identifying information to the NAIC, its affiliates or subsidiaries for permanent retention in a centralized repository. The purpose of such a centralized repository is to provide insurance commissioners with access to fingerprint records in order to perform criminal history record checks.

**Drafting Note:** The FBI requires that fingerprints be submitted to the state Department of Law Enforcement, Public Safety or Criminal Justice for a check of state records before the fingerprints are submitted to the FBI for a criminal history check. The FBI recommends all fingerprint submissions to be in an electronic format. The FBI has approved the language in Section 4 (C) to authorize a state identification bureau to submit fingerprints on behalf of its applicants in conjunction with licensing and employment.

**Drafting Note:** If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include public adjusters.

**Drafting Note:** This provision does not permit the sharing of criminal history record information with the NAIC or other insurance commissioners as such sharing of information is prohibited by 28 CFR 20.33.

## Section 5. Resident License

- A. Before issuing a public adjuster license to an applicant under this section, the commissioner shall find that the applicant:
  - (1) Is eligible to designate this state as his or her home state or is a nonresident who is not eligible for a license under Section 8;
  - (2) Has not committed any act that is a ground for denial, suspension or revocation of a license as set forth in Section 11;
  - (3) Is trustworthy, reliable, and of good reputation, evidence of which may be determined by the commissioner;

- (4) Is financially responsible to exercise the license and has provided proof of financial responsibility as required in Section 12 of this Act;
- (5) Has paid the fees set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation]; and
- (6) Maintains an office in the home state of residence with public access by reasonable appointment and/or regular business hours. This includes a designated office within a home state of residence.
- B. In addition to satisfying the requirements of Subsection A, an individual shall
  - (1) Be at least eighteen (18) years of age; and
  - (2) Have successfully passed the public adjuster examination.
  - (3) Designate a licensed individual public adjuster responsible for the business entity's compliance with the insurance laws, rules, and regulations of this state; and
  - (4) Designate only licensed individual public adjusters to exercise the business entity's license.

 $Drafting \ Note:$  Subsection C is optional and would apply only to those states that have a business entity license requirement. C's PLMA Section 6B

C. The commissioner may require any documents reasonably necessary to verify the information contained in the application.

## Section 6. Examination

- A. An individual applying for a public adjuster license under this act shall pass a written examination unless exempt pursuant to Section 7. The examination shall test the knowledge of the individual concerning the duties and responsibilities of a public adjuster and the insurance laws and regulations of this state. Examinations required by this section shall be developed and conducted under rules and regulations prescribed by the commissioner.
- B. The commissioner may make arrangements, including contracting with an outside testing service, for administering examinations and collecting the nonrefundable fee set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].
- C. Each individual applying for an examination shall remit a non-refundable fee as prescribed by the commissioner as set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].
- D. An individual who fails to appear for the examination as scheduled or fails to pass the examination, shall reapply for an examination and remit all required fees and forms before being rescheduled for another examination.

**Drafting Note:** A state may wish to prescribe by regulation limitations on the frequency of application for examination in addition to other prelicensing requirements.

**Drafting Note:** If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include public adjusters.

### Section 7. Exemptions from Examination

- A. An individual who applies for a public adjuster license in this state who was previously licensed as a public adjuster in another state based on an public adjuster examination shall not be required to complete any prelicensing examination. This exemption is only available if the person is currently licensed in that state or if the application is received within twelve (12) months of the cancellation of the applicant's previous license and if the prior state issues a certification that, at the time of cancellation, the applicant was in good standing in that state or the state's producer database records or records maintained by the NAIC, its affiliates, or subsidiaries, indicate that the public adjuster is or was licensed in good standing.
- B. A person licensed as a public adjuster in another state based on an public adjuster examination who moves to this state shall make application within ninety (90) days of establishing legal residence to become a resident licensee pursuant to Section 5. No prelicensing examination shall be required of that person to obtain a public adjuster license.
- C. An individual who applies for a public adjuster license in this state who was previously licensed as a public adjuster in this state shall not be required to complete any prelicensing examination. This exemption is only available if the application is received within twelve (12) months of the cancellation of the applicant's previous license in this state and if, at the time of cancellation, the applicant was in good standing in this state.

**Drafting Note:** If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act , it may not be necessary to adopt this section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include public adjusters.

#### Section 8. Nonresident License Reciprocity

- A. Unless denied licensure pursuant to Section 11, a nonresident person shall receive a nonresident public adjuster license if:
  - (1) The person is currently licensed as a resident public adjuster and in good standing in his or her home state;
  - (2) The person has submitted the proper request for licensure, has paid the fees required by [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation] [NAIC's PLMA Section 8A(2)], and has provided proof of financial responsibility as required in Section 12 of this Act;
  - (3) The person has submitted or transmitted to the commissioner the appropriate completed application for licensure; and
  - (4) The person's home state awards non-resident public adjuster licenses to residents of this state on the same basis.
- B. The commissioner may verify the public adjuster's licensing status through the producer database maintained by the NAIC, its affiliates, or subsidiaries.

C. As a condition to continuation of a public adjuster license issued under this section, the licensee shall maintain a resident public adjuster license in his or her home state. The non-resident public adjuster license issued under this section shall terminate and be surrendered immediately to the commissioner if the home state public adjuster license terminates for any reason, unless the public adjuster has been issued a license as a resident public adjuster in his or her new home state. Notification to the state or states where non-resident license is issued must be made as soon as possible, yet no later that thirty (30) days of change in new state resident license. Licensee shall include new and old address. A new state resident license is required for non-resident licenses to remain valid. The new state resident license must have reciprocity with the licensing non-resident state(s) for the non-resident license not to terminate.

**Drafting Note:** If the state has adopted the PLMA, it may not be necessary to adopt this section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include public adjusters.

#### Section 9. License

- A. Unless denied licensure under this Act, persons who have met the requirements of this Act shall be issued a public adjuster license.
- B. A public adjuster license shall remain in effect unless revoked, terminated or suspended as long as the request for renewal and fee set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation] is paid and any other requirements for license renewal are met by the due date.
- C. The licensee shall inform the commissioner by any means acceptable to the commissioner of a change of address, change of legal name, or change of information submitted on the application within thirty (30) days of the change.
- D. A licensed public adjuster shall be subject to [cite state's Unfair Claims Settlement Act and state's Trade Practices and Fraud sections of the Insurance Code].
- E. A public adjuster who allows his or her license to lapse may, within twelve (12) months from the due date of the renewal, be issued a new public adjuster license upon the commissioner's receipt of the request for renewal. However, a penalty in the amount of double the unpaid renewal fee shall be required for the issue of the new public adjuster license. The new public adjuster license shall be effective the date the commissioner receives the request for renewal and the late payment penalty.
- F. Any public adjuster licensee that fails to apply for renewal of a license before expiration of the current license shall pay a lapsed license fee of twice the license fee and be subject to other penalties as provided by law before the license will be renewed. If the Department receives the request for reinstatement and the required lapsed license fee within sixty (60) days of the date the license lapsed, the Department shall reinstate the license retroactively to the date the license lapsed. If the Department receives the request for reinstatement and the required lapsed license fee after sixty (60) days but within one year of the date the license lapsed, the Department shall reinstate the license prospectively with the date the license is reinstated. If the person applies for reinstatement more than one year from date of lapse, the person shall reapply for the license under this Act.

G. A licensed public adjuster that is unable to comply with license renewal procedures due to military service, a long-term medical disability, or some other extenuating circumstance, may request a waiver of those procedures. The public adjuster may also request a waiver of any examination requirement, fine, or other sanction imposed for failure to comply with renewal procedures.

Drafting Note: References to license "renewal" should be deleted in those states that do not require license renewal.

- H. The license shall contain the licensee's name, city and state of business address, personal identification number, the date of issuance, the expiration date, and any other information the commissioner deems necessary.
- I. In order to assist in the performance of the commissioner's duties, the commissioner may contract with non-governmental entities, including the NAIC or any affiliates or subsidiaries that the NAIC oversees, to perform any ministerial functions, including the collection of fees and data, related to licensing that the commissioner may deem appropriate.]

**Drafting Note:** If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include public adjusters.

## Section 10. Apprentice Public Adjuster License [Optional]

- A. The apprentice public adjuster license is an optional license to facilitate the training necessary to ensure reasonable competency to fulfill the responsibilities of a public adjuster as defined in [insert state statute].
- B. The apprentice public adjuster license shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:
  - (1) An attestation/certification from a licensed public adjuster (licensee) shall accompany an application for an initial apprentice public adjuster license assuming responsibility for all actions of such applicant;
  - (2) The apprentice public adjuster is authorized to adjust claims in the state that has issued licensure only;
  - (3) The apprentice public adjuster shall not be required to take and successfully complete the prescribed public adjuster examination;
  - (4) The licensee shall at all times be an employee of a public adjuster and subject to training, direction, and control by a licensed public adjuster;
  - (5) The apprentice public adjuster license is for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months, the license shall not be renewed;
  - (6) The licensee is restricted to participation in factual investigation, tentative closing and solicitation of losses subject to the review and final determination of a licensed public adjuster;
  - (7) Compensation of an apprentice public adjuster shall be on a salaried or hourly basis only; and

(8) The licensee shall be subject to suspension, revocation, or conditions in accordance with [Insert State Laws].

### Section 11. License Denial, Non-renewal or Revocation

- A. The commissioner may place on probation, suspend, revoke or refuse to issue or renew a public adjuster's license or may levy a civil penalty in accordance with [insert appropriate reference to state law] or any combination of actions, for any one or more of the following causes:
  - (1) Providing incorrect, misleading, incomplete, or materially untrue information in the license application;
  - (2) Violating any insurance laws, or violating any regulation, subpoena, or order of the commissioner or of another state's insurance commissioner;
  - (3) Obtaining or attempting to obtain a license through misrepresentation or fraud;
  - (4) Improperly withholding, misappropriating, or converting any monies or properties received in the course of doing insurance business;
  - (5) Intentionally misrepresenting the terms of an actual or proposed insurance contract or application for insurance;
  - (6) Having been convicted of a felony;
  - (7) Having admitted or been found to have committed any insurance unfair trade practice or insurance fraud;
  - (8) Using fraudulent, coercive or dishonest practices; or demonstrating incompetence, untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business in this state or elsewhere;
  - (9) Having an insurance license, or its equivalent, denied, suspended, or revoked in any other state, province, district or territory;
  - (10) Forging another's name to an application for insurance or to any document related to an insurance transaction;
  - (11) Cheating, including improperly using notes or any other reference material, to complete an examination for an insurance license;
  - (12) Knowingly accepting insurance business from an individual who is not licensed but who is required to be licensed by the commissioner;
  - (13) Failing to comply with an administrative or court order imposing a child support obligation; or
  - (14) Failing to pay state income tax or comply with any administrative or court order directing payment of state income tax.

**Drafting Note:** Paragraph (14) is for those states that have a state income tax.

- B. In the event that the action by the commissioner is to deny an application for or not renew a license, the commissioner shall notify the applicant or licensee and advise, in writing, the applicant or licensee of the reason for the non-renewal or denial of the applicant's or licensee's license. The applicant or licensee may make written demand upon the commissioner within [insert appropriate time period from state's administrative procedure act] for a hearing before the commissioner to determine the reasonableness of the commissioner's action. The hearing shall be held within [insert time period from state law] and shall be held pursuant to [insert appropriate reference to state law].
- C. The license of a business entity may be suspended, revoked or refused if the commissioner finds, after hearing, that an individual licensee's violation was known or should have been known by one or more of the partners, officers or managers acting on behalf of the business entity and the violation was neither reported to the commissioner nor corrective action taken.
- D. In addition to or in lieu of any applicable denial, suspension or revocation of a license, a person may, after hearing, be subject to a civil fine according to [insert appropriate reference to state law].
- E. The commissioner shall retain the authority to enforce the provisions of and impose any penalty or remedy authorized by this Act and Title [insert appropriate reference to state law] against any person who is under investigation for or charged with a violation of this Act or Title [insert appropriate reference to state law] even if the person's license or registration has been surrendered or has lapsed by operation of law.

**Drafting Note:** If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this section. The state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include public adjusters.

## Section 12. Bond or Letter of Credit

Prior to issuance of a license as a public adjuster and for the duration of the license, the applicant shall secure evidence of financial responsibility in a format prescribed by the insurance commissioner through a security bond or irrevocable letter of credit:

- A. A surety bond executed and issued by an insurer authorized to issue surety bonds in this state, which bond:
  - (1) Shall be in the minimum amount of \$20,000;
  - (2) Shall be in favor of this state and shall specifically authorize recovery by the commissioner on behalf of any person in this state who sustained damages as the result of erroneous acts, failure to act, conviction of fraud, or conviction of unfair practices in his or her capacity as a public adjuster; and
  - (3) Shall not be terminated unless at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice will have been filed with the commissioner and given to the licensee.

- B. An irrevocable letter of credit issued by a qualified financial institution, which letter of credit:
  - (1) Shall be in the minimum amount of \$20,000;
  - (2) Shall be to an account to the commissioner and subject to lawful levy of execution on behalf of any person to whom the public adjuster has been found to be legally liable as the result of erroneous acts, failure to act, fraudulent acts, or unfair practices in his or her capacity as a public adjuster; and
  - (3) Shall not be terminated unless at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice will have been filed with the commissioner and given to the licensee.
- C. The issuer of the evidence of financial responsibility shall notify the commissioner upon termination of the bond or letter of credit, unless otherwise directed by the commissioner.
- D. The commissioner may ask for the evidence of financial responsibility at any time he or she deems relevant.
- E. The authority to act as a public adjuster shall automatically terminate if the evidence of financial responsibility terminates or becomes impaired.

## Section 13. Continuing Education

- A. An individual, who holds a public adjuster license and who is not exempt under Subsection B of this section, shall satisfactorily complete a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours of continuing education courses, including ethics, reported on a biennial basis in conjunction with the license renewal cycle.
- B. This section shall not apply to:
  - (1) Licensees not licensed for one full year prior to the end of the applicable continuing education biennium; or
  - (2) Licensees holding nonresident public adjuster licenses who have met the continuing education requirements of their home state and whose home state gives credit to residents of this state on the same basis.
- C. Only continuing education courses approved by the commissioner shall be used to satisfy the continuing education requirement of Subsection A.

## Section 14. Public Adjuster Fees

A. [Optional] A public adjuster may charge the insured a reasonable fee as determined by state law [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].

**Drafting Note:** This model designates Section 14A as optional. A majority of the states do not require a cap on fees of public adjusters.

B. A public adjuster shall not pay a commission, service fee or other valuable consideration to a person for investigating or settling claims in this state if that person is required to be licensed under this Act and is not so licensed.

- C. A person shall not accept a commission, service fee or other valuable consideration for investigating or settling claims in this state if that person is required to be licensed under this Act and is not so licensed.
- D. A public adjuster may pay or assign commission, service fees or other valuable consideration to persons who do not investigate or settle claims in this state, unless the payment would violate [insert appropriate reference to state law, i.e. citation to anti-rebating statute or sharing commission statute, if applicable].
- E. [Optional] In the event of a catastrophic disaster, there shall be limits on catastrophic fees, no public adjuster shall charge, agree to or accept as compensation or reimbursement any payment, commission, fee, or other thing of value equal to more than ten percent (10%) of any insurance settlement or proceeds. No public adjuster shall require, demand or accept any fee, retainer, compensation, deposit, or other thing of value, prior to settlement of a claim.

**Drafting Note:** This model designates Section 14E, as optional. It is recommended that the states that establish catastrophic fees utilize the recommended language in this model.

## Section 15. Contract Between Public Adjuster and Insured

- A. Public adjusters shall ensure that all contracts for their services are in writing and contain the following terms:
  - (1) Legible full name of the adjuster signing the contract, as specified in Department of Insurance records;
  - (2) Permanent home state business address and phone number;
  - (3) Department of Insurance license number;
  - (4) Title of "Public Adjuster Contract";
  - (5) The insured's full name, street address, insurance company name and policy number, if known or upon notification;
  - (6) A description of the loss and its location, if applicable;
  - (7) Description of services to be provided to the insured;
  - (8) Signatures of the public adjuster and the insured;
  - (9) Date contract was signed by the public adjuster and date the contract was signed by the insured;
  - (10) Attestation language stating that the public adjuster is fully bonded pursuant to state law; and
  - (11) Full salary, fee, commission, compensation or other considerations the public adjuster is to receive for services.

- B. The contract may specify that the public adjuster shall be named as a co-payee on an insurer's payment of a claim.
  - (1) If the compensation is based on a share of the insurance settlement, the exact percentage shall be specified.
  - (2) Initial expenses to be reimbursed to the public adjuster from the proceeds of the claim payment shall be specified by type, with dollar estimates set forth in the contract and with any additional expenses 1 first approved by the insured.
  - (3) Compensation provisions in a public adjusting contract shall not be redacted in any copy of the contract provided to the commissioner. Such a redaction shall constitute an omission of material fact in violation of [insert reference to relevant state law].
- C. If the insurer, not later than seventy-two (72) hours after the date on which the loss is reported to the insurer, either pays or commits in writing to pay to the insured the policy limit of the insurance policy, the public adjuster shall:
  - (1) Not receive a commission consisting of a percentage of the total amount paid by an insurer to resolve a claim;
  - (2) Inform the insured that loss recovery amount might not be increased by insurer; and
  - (3) Be entitled only to reasonable compensation from the insured for services provided by the public adjuster on behalf of the insured, based on the time spent on a claim and expenses incurred by the public adjuster, until the claim is paid or the insured receives a written commitment to pay from the insurer.
- D. A public adjuster shall provide the insured a written disclosure concerning any direct or indirect financial interest that the public adjuster has with any other party who is involved in any aspect of the claim, other than the salary, fee, commission or other consideration established in the written contract with the insured, including but not limited to any ownership of, other than as a minority stockholder, or any compensation expected to be received from, any construction firm, salvage firm, building appraisal firm, motor vehicle repair shop, or any other firm which that provides estimates for work, or that performs any work, in conjunction with damages caused by the insured loss on which the public adjuster is engaged. The word "firm" shall include any corporation, partnership, association, joint-stock company or person.
- E. A public adjuster contract may not contain any contract term that:
  - (1) Allows the public adjuster's percentage fee to be collected when money is due from an insurance company, but not paid, or that allows a public adjuster to collect the entire fee from the first check issued by an insurance company, rather than as percentage of each check issued by an insurance company;
  - (2) Requires the insured to authorize an insurance company to issue a check only in the name of the public adjuster;

- (3) Imposes collection costs or late fees; or
- (4) Precludes a public adjuster from pursuing civil remedies.
- F. Prior to the signing of the contract the public adjuster shall provide the insured with a separate disclosure document regarding the claim process that states:
  - (1) Property insurance policies obligate the insured to present a claim to his or her insurance company for consideration. There are three (3) types of adjusters that could be involved in that process. The definitions of the three types are as follows:
    - (a) "Company adjuster" means the insurance adjusters who are employees of an insurance company. They represent the interest of the insurance company and are paid by the insurance company. They will not charge you a fee.
    - (b) "Independent adjuster" means the insurance adjusters who are hired on a contract basis by an insurance company to represent the insurance company's interest in the settlement of the claim. They are paid by your insurance company. They will not charge you a fee.
    - (c) "Public adjuster" means the insurance adjusters who do not work for any insurance company. They work for the insured to assist in the preparation, presentation and settlement of the claim. The insured hires them by signing a contract agreeing to pay them a fee or commission based on a percentage of the settlement, or other method of compensation.
  - (2) The insured is not required to hire a public adjuster to help the insured meet his or her obligations under the policy, but has the right to do so.
  - (3) The insured has the right to initiate direct communications with the insured's attorney, the insurer, the insurer's adjuster, and the insurer's attorney, or any other person regarding the settlement of the insured's claim.
  - (4) The public adjuster is not a representative or employee of the insurer.
  - (5) The salary, fee, commission or other consideration is the obligation of the insured, not the insurer.
- G. The contracts shall be executed in duplicate to provide an original contract to the public adjuster, and an original contract to the insured. The public adjuster's original contract shall be available at all times for inspection without notice by the commissioner.
- H. The public adjuster shall provide the insurer a notification letter, which has been signed by the insured, authorizing the public adjuster to represent the insured's interest.
- I. The public adjuster shall give the insured written notice of the insured's right as provided in [cite the state consumer protection laws].

- J. The insured has the right to rescind the contract within three (3) business days after the date the contract was signed. The rescission shall be in writing and mailed or delivered to the public adjuster at the address in the contract within the three (3) business day period.
- K. If the insured exercises the right to rescind the contract, anything of value given by the insured under the contract will be returned to the insured within fifteen (15) business days following the receipt by the public adjuster of the cancellation notice.

Drafting Note: The details in this section should comply with your state's consumer protection contract rescission law.

#### Section 16. Escrow or Trust Accounts

A public adjuster who receives, accepts or holds any funds on behalf of an insured, towards the settlement of a claim for loss or damage, shall deposit the funds in a non-interest bearing escrow or trust account in a financial institution that is insured by an agency of the federal government in the public adjuster's home state or where the loss occurred.

#### Section 17. Record Retention

- A. A public adjuster shall maintain a complete record of each transaction as a public adjuster. The records required by this section shall include the following:
  - (1) Name of the insured;
  - (2) Date, location and amount of the loss;
  - (3) Copy of the contract between the public adjuster and insured;
  - (4) Name of the insurer, amount, expiration date and number of each policy carried with respect to the loss;
  - (5) Itemized statement of the insured's recoveries;
  - (6) Itemized statement of all compensation received by the public adjuster, from any source whatsoever, in connection with the loss;
  - (7) A register of all monies received, deposited, disbursed, or withdrawn in connection with a transaction with an insured, including fees transfers and disbursements from a trust account and all transactions concerning all interest bearing accounts;
  - (8) Name of public adjuster who executed the contract;
  - (9) Name of the attorney representing the insured, if applicable, and the name of the claims representatives of the insurance company; and
  - (10) Evidence of financial responsibility in a format prescribed by the insurance commissioner.
- B. Records shall be maintained for at least five (5) years after the termination of the transaction with an insured and shall be open to examination by the commissioner at all times.

C. Records submitted to the commissioner in accordance with this section that contain information identified in writing as proprietary by the public adjuster shall be treated as confidential by the commissioner and shall not be subject to [insert reference to open record laws] of this state.

## Section 18. Standards of Conduct of Public Adjuster

- A. A public adjuster is obligated, under his or her license, to serve with objectivity and complete loyalty the interest of his client alone; and to render to the insured such information, counsel and service, as within the knowledge, understanding and opinion in good faith of the licensee, as will best serve the insured's insurance claim needs and interest.
- B. A public adjuster shall not solicit, or attempt to solicit, an insured during the progress of a loss-producing occurrence, as defined in the insured's insurance contract.
- C. A public adjuster shall not permit an unlicensed employee or representative of the public adjuster to conduct business for which a license is required under this Act.
- D. A public adjuster shall not have a direct or indirect financial interest in any aspect of the claim, other than the salary, fee, commission or other consideration established in the written contract with the insured, unless full written disclosure has been made to the insured as set forth in Section 15G.
- E. A public adjuster shall not acquire any interest in salvage of property subject to the contract with the insured unless the public adjuster obtains written permission from the insured after settlement of the claim with the insurer as set forth in Section 15G.
- F. The public adjuster shall abstain from referring or directing the insured to get needed repairs or services in connection with a loss from any person, unless disclosed to the insured:
  - (1) With whom the public adjuster has a financial interest; or
  - (2) From whom the public adjuster may receive direct or indirect compensation for the referral.

**Drafting Note:** Optional language for Subsection F: "Licensees may not solicit a client for employment between the hours of \_\_\_\_\_ pm and \_\_\_\_ am."

- G. The public adjuster shall disclose to an insured if he or she has any interest or will be compensated by any construction firm, salvage firm, building appraisal firm, motor vehicle repair shop or any other firm that performs any work in conjunction with damages caused by the insured loss. The word "firm" shall include any corporation, partnership, association, joint-stock company or individual as set forth in Section 15A(4).
- H. Any compensation or anything of value in connection with an insured's specific loss that will be received by a public adjuster shall be disclosed by the public adjuster to the insured in writing including the source and amount of any such compensation.
- I. Public adjusters shall adhere to the following general ethical requirements:

#### Model Regulation Service—October 2005

- (1) A public adjuster shall not undertake the adjustment of any claim if the public adjuster is not competent and knowledgeable as to the terms and conditions of the insurance coverage, or which otherwise exceeds the public adjuster's current expertise;
- (2) A public adjuster shall not knowingly make any oral or written material misrepresentations or statements which are false or maliciously critical and intended to injure any person engaged in the business of insurance to any insured client or potential insured client;
- (3) No public adjuster, while so licensed by the Department, may represent or act as a company adjuster, or independent adjuster on the same claim;

**Drafting Note:** If a state only allows licensure in one class of adjuster licensing, the adjuster may not represent another type of licensure in any circumstance.

- (4) The contract shall not be construed to prevent an insured from pursuing any civil remedy after the three-business day revocation or cancellation period;
- (5) A public adjuster shall not enter into a contract or accept a power of attorney that vests in the public adjuster the effective authority to choose the persons who shall perform repair work; and
- (6) A public adjuster shall ensure that all contracts for the public adjuster's services are in writing and set forth all terms and conditions of the engagement.
- J. A public adjuster may not agree to any loss settlement without the insured's knowledge and consent.

## Section 19. Reporting of Actions

- A. The public adjuster shall report to the commissioner any administrative action taken against the public adjuster in another jurisdiction or by another governmental agency in this state within thirty (30) days of the final disposition of the matter. This report shall include a copy of the order, consent to order, or other relevant legal documents.
- B. Within thirty (30) days of the initial pretrial hearing date, the public adjuster shall report to the commissioner any criminal prosecution of the public adjuster taken in any jurisdiction. The report shall include a copy of the initial complaint filed, the order resulting from the hearing, and any other relevant legal documents.

**Drafting Note:** If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act , it may not be necessary to adopt this section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include public adjusters.

#### Section 20. Regulations

The commissioner may, in accordance with [insert appropriate reference to state law], promulgate reasonable regulations as are necessary or proper to carry out the purposes of this Act.

## Section 21. Severability

If any provisions of this Act, or the application of a provision to any person or circumstances, shall be held invalid, the remainder of the Act, and the application of the provision to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid, shall not be affected.

## Section 22. Effective Date

This Act shall take effect [insert date]. Provided, however that the provision of Section 4 do not become effective until a state participates in the NAIC's central repository for the purpose of obtaining criminal background information.

**Drafting Note:** A minimum of six months to one-year implementation time for proper notice of changes, fees, and procedures is recommended.

Chronological Summary of Action (all references are to the Proceedings of the NAIC).

2005 Proc. 2<sup>nd</sup> Quarter 698 (adopted by parent committee). 2005 Proc. 3<sup>rd</sup> Quarter 26, 35-49 (amended and adopted by Plenary). Model Regulation Service—October 2005

# NAIC Public Insurance Adjuster Surety Bond Sample

BOND NO.

## Know All Persons by These Presents:

That we, \_\_\_\_\_\_as Principal, whose address is \_\_\_\_\_\_as Surety, being a surety company authorized to do business in the State of \_\_\_\_\_re bound to the \_\_\_\_\_ Department of Insurance in the sum of \$10,000.00 as specified at [ insert reference to state law or regulation]. The specified sum is payable to the [insert state] Department of Insurance for the use and benefit of any customer of the above described Principal and as defined by the [insert state] Insurance Code, [insert citation] in acceptable currency of the United States in accordance with the statutory provision cited above. By this instrument, we jointly and severally firmly bind ourselves, out heir s, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.

## The conditions of the above obligations are:

**Whereas** the above named Principal has applied to the [insert state] Department of Insurance for a license as a Public Insurance Adjuster to engage in or continue the business of insurance as a Public Insurance Adjuster in accordance with the [insert state] Insurance Code;

**Now, Therefore,** should the Principal discharge losses that result from any final judgment recovered against the Principal by any customer, this obligation will become void. If this obligation is not void, it remains in full force and effect, subject to the following conditions:

1. As of \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_\_, this bond will be in full force and effect indefinitely. Continuation or renewal certificates are unnecessary.

2. The surety may, at any time, terminate this bond by submitting written notice to the [insert state] Department of Insurance thirty (30) days prior to the termination date. The surety, however, remains liable for any defaults under this bond committed prior to the termination date.

3. In no event will the aggregate liability of the Surety under this bond, for any or all damages to one or more claimants, exceed the penal sum of this bond.

In Witness Whereof said Principal a	and Surety have executed	this bond this	day of	
, 20	_ to be effective the	day of	,	20

PRINCIPAL

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ 

ADDRESS

SURETY

Public Adjuster Licensing Model Act

This page is intentionally left blank

These charts are intended to provide the readers with additional information to more easily access state statutes, regulations, bulletins or administrative rulings which are related to the NAIC model. Such guidance provides the reader with a starting point from which they may review how each state has addressed the model and the topic being covered. The NAIC Legal Division has reviewed each state's activity in this area and has made an interpretation of adoption or related state activity based on the definitions listed below. The NAIC's interpretation may or may not be shared by the individual states or by interested readers.

This state page does not constitute a formal legal opinion by the NAIC staff on the provisions of state law and should not be relied upon as such. Nor does this state page reflect a determination as to whether a state meets any applicable accreditation standards. Every effort has been made to provide correct and accurate summaries to assist the reader in targeting useful information. For further details, the laws cited should be consulted. The NAIC attempts to provide current information; however, due to the timing of our publication production, the information provided may not reflect the most up to date status. Therefore, readers should consult state law for additional adoptions and subsequent bill status.

This page is intentionally left blank

## KEY:

**MODEL ADOPTION**: States that have citations identified in this column adopted the most recent version of the NAIC model in a **substantially similar manner**. This requires states to adopt the model in its entirety but does allow for variations in style and format. States that have adopted portions of the current NAIC model will be included in this column with an explanatory note.

**RELATED STATE ACTIVITY**: States that have citations identified in this column have **not** adopted the most recent version of the NAIC model in a substantially similar manner. Examples of Related State Activity include but are not limited to: An older version of the NAIC model, legislation or regulation derived from other sources such as Bulletins and Administrative Rulings.

**NO CURRENT ACTIVITY:** No state activity on the topic as of the date of the most recent update. This includes states that have repealed legislation as well as states that have never adopted legislation.

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Alabama	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY	
Alaska		Alaska Admin. Code tit. 3, § 23-140 (2009).
American Samoa	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY	
Arizona		ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. §§ 20-281 to 20-302; §§ 20-321 to 20-321.02 (2001/2014).
Arkansas		ARK. CODE ANN. § 23-64-209 (1959/2015).
California		CAL. INS. CODE §§ 10000 to 15001 (1985/2013); §§ 15006 to 15018; §§ 15024 to 15030; §§ 15033 to 15037; § 15039.5; § 15043; §§ 15056 to 15059 (1985/2006); BULLETIN 2013-2 (2013).
Colorado		Colo. Rev. Stat. § 10-2-417 (1995/2013).

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Connecticut		Conn. Gen. Stat. § 38a-723 (1990/2010); § 38a-769; § 38a-771; § 38a-774; § 38a-788 (1949/2013); Conn. Agencies Regs. §§ 38a-788-1 to 788-8 (1984/2013); Bulletin IC-34 (2013).
Delaware		Del. Code Ann. tit. 18, §§ 1750 to 1759 (1995/2003).
District of Columbia		D.C. CODE ANN. §§ 31-1631.01 to 31-1631.12 (2002); D.C. MUN. REGS. tit. 26, §§ 3900 to 3999 (2003).
Florida		FLA. STAT. § 626.015 (2003/2012); § 626.112 (2003/2012); § 626.221; § 626.851 to 626.854 (1959/2014); § 626.858; § 626.8582; § 626.864 to 626.865 (1959/2012); § 626.869 to 626.871 (1059/2012); § 626.873 to 626.8738 (2003/2012); § 8 626.875 to 626.878 (1990/2004); FLA. ADMIN. CODE ANN. r. 690- 220.051; FLA. ADMIN. CODE ANN. r. 69B-220.001 to 69B-220.201 (1993/2014).
Georgia		GA. CODE ANN. §§ 33-23-1; 33-23-6; § 33-23-43 (1992/2014); GA. COMP. R. & REGS. 12-2-306 to 12-2-307 (1982/2009); 120-2-309 (2003/2014); 120-2-311 to 120-2-312 (1996/2009); 120-2-315 to 120-2-316 (2004/2014); 120-2-325 (1992/2009); 120-2-334 to 120-2-337 (1992/2009).
Guam	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY	

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Hawaii		HAW. REV. STAT. § 431:9-101; § 431:9-105; § 431:9-201; §§ 431:9-203 to 431:9-204 (1987/2011); §§ 431:9-206 to 431:9-209; §§ 431:9-222 to 431:9-230; §§ 431:9-235 to 431:9-243 (1987/2006).
Idaho	Ідано Соде Ann. § 41-5803 (2008).	
Illinois	215 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 5/1501 to 5/1615 (2010/2014).	215 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 5/512.51 to 5/512.64 (1983/2003).
Indiana		IND. CODE §§ 27-1-27-1 to 27-1-27-11 (1983/2003); § 27-1-28 (2011).
Iowa	IOWA ADMIN. CODE r. 191-55.1 to 191-55.21 (2007).	
Kansas	KAN. STAT. ANN. §§ 40-5501 to 40-5519 (2009).	
Kentucky		Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 304.9-105 to 304.9-107; §§ 304.9-120 to 304.9-133; § 304.9-140; §§ 304.9-150 to 304.9-210; § 304.9-260; § 304.9-295; §§ 304.9-350 to 304.9-360; §§ 304.9-373 to 304.9-360; §§ 304.9-373 to 304.9-377; § 304.9-390; §§ 304.9-421 to 304.9-435; §§ 304.9-440 to 304.9-450; §§ 304.9-4465 to 304.9-467 (1970/2013); 806 Ky. ADMIN. REGS. 9:220 (1995/2009).
Louisiana		La. REV. STAT. ANN. § 22:1476 (2003); § 22:1706 (2008/2012); LA. ADMIN. CODE tit. 37, §§ XI.2716.1 to XI.2905 (2005); Emergency Directive 1 (2005) (registration requirement).

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Maine		ME. REV. STAT. ANN. tit. 24-A, §§ 1401 to 1413 (2001/2012); §§ 1416-A to 1419; § 1424-A; §§ 1471 to 1476 (2001/2010); § 1482 (1997/2005); BULLETIN 373 (2010).
Maryland		MD. CODE ANN., INS. § 27-405 (1997/2009).
Massachusetts		A.G. Opinion Sept. 14, 2005; BULLETIN 2006-10 (2006).
Michigan		MICH. ADMIN. CODE r. 501.3 (1944).
Minnesota		MINN. STAT. §§ 72B.01 to 72B.06; §§ 72B.11 to 72B.14; § 72B.135 (1971/2001)
Mississippi		MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 83-17-501 to 83-17-527 (2007/2015); MISS. INS. REG. 2007-4 (2007); A.G. Opinion Sept. 14, 2005; BULLETIN 2006-10 (2006).
Missouri		Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 325.010 to 325.055 (1973/1991); Mo. Code Regs. Ann. tit. 2.0 §§ 100-1.100; §§ 700-2.005 to 700-2.300 (2006/2008); BULLETIN 90-14 (1990).
Montana		Mont. Code Ann. § 33-17-102 (1959/2013); § 33-17-202; § 33-17-301 (1959/2005); Mont. Admin. R. 6.6.1601 to 6.6.1615 (1983/2003).
Nebraska		NEB. REV. STAT. §§ 44-2606 to 44-2635 (1980/1989).

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Nevada		NEV. REV. STAT. §§ 684A.010 to 684A.050; §§ 684A.060 to 684A.150; §§ 684A.170 to 684A.190; §§ 684A.210 to 684A.260 (1971/2001); BULLETIN 2010-001 (2010).
New Hampshire	N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. §§ 402-D:1 to 402-D:10 (1975/2005) (portions of model).	N.H. Admin. Code Ins. 1302.05 to 1302.08 (2007)
New Jersey		N.J. STAT. ANN. §§ 17:22B-1 to 17:22B-20 (1993); N.J. ADMIN. CODE §§ 11:1-37.1 to 11:1-37.19 (1994/2001); BULLETIN 2011-10 (2011).
New Mexico		N.M. STAT. ANN. §§ 59A-13-11 to 59A-13-11 (1984/2003); BULLETIN 2000-011 (2000); BULLETIN 2012-002 (2012).
New York		N.Y. INS. LAW §§ 2010 to 2102; § 2108 (1998/2014); §§ 2110 to 2111 (1984/2014); N.Y. COMP. CODES R. & REGS. tit. 11, § 26.3 (1975/2012); OFF. GEN. COUNS. Opinion No. 2005-16; 2005-92; 2004-114; 2005-120; 2005-194; 2005-229; 2005-300 (2005); 6-20-2006 (# 2); 8-2-2006 (# 3) (2006); Circular Letter 1993-17 (1993); OFF. GEN. COUNS. 10-4-2006 (2006); OFF. GEN. COUNS. 6-22-2009 (2009).
North Carolina	N.C. GEN. STAT. §§ 58-33A-1 to 58-33A-95 (2013).	N.C. GEN. STAT. §§ 58-33-1 to 58-33-10 (1987/2009); §§ 58-33-26 to 58-33-35 (1987/2009); §§ 58-33-46 to 58-33-50 (1988/2009); 11 N.C. ADMIN. CODE §§ 6A.0906 to 6A.0905 (1996/2006); BULLETIN 04-B-3 (2004); BULLETIN 05-B-1 (2005); Memorandum 11-4-2010 (2010); Memorandum 2-3-2014 (2014).

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
North Dakota		N.D. CENT. CODE §§ 26.1-26-01 to 26.1-26-13 (1981/2001); § 26.1-26-31.1 (1985/2005).
Northern Marianas	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY	
Ohio		Ohio Rev. Code Ann. §§ 3951.01 to 3951.09; 3951.99 (2001); Ohio Admin. Code r. 3901:1-24 (1972/2011); Bulletin 88-1 (1988).
Oklahoma		OKLA. STAT. tit. 36, §§ 6201 to 6222 (1973/2015); BULLETIN PC-2013-05 (2013).
Oregon		OR. REV. STAT. § 744.001; §§ 744.007 to 744.009; § 744.018; § 744.024; §§ 744.026 to 744.028; § 744.505; § 744.515; §§ 744.525 to 744.528; §§ 744535 to 744.538 (1953/2003).
Pennsylvania		63 PA. CODE §§ 33-101 to 33-108 (1983/2012); 31 PA. CODE §§ 115.1 to 115.4; §§ 115.7 to 115.9 (2003/2012).
Puerto Rico		P.R. LAWS ANN. tit. 26, § 905; §§ 906 to 916; §§ 929 to 942; §§ 946 to 948 (1983/2000); P.R.R. RULE IV Art. 1 to IV Art. 3 (1966).
Rhode Island		R.I. GEN. LAWS §§ 27-10-1 to 27-10-14 (1956/2014); 43 R.I. CODE R. §§ 1 to 14 (2006/2008); BULLETIN 2014-8 (2014).
South Carolina		S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 38-48-10 to 38-48-160 (2000); BULLETIN 01-1 (2000); A.G. Opinion 77-384 (1977).
South Dakota	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY	
Tennessee		A.G. Opinion 76; 133 (2005).

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Texas		TEX. INS. CODE ANN. § 21.07-5 (2003); TEX. INS. CODE ANN. § 4102.001 TO 4102.208 (2005/2014); 28 TEX. ADMIN. CODE §§ 19.701 to 19.713 (1984/2003).
Utah		UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 31A-26-101 to 31A26-102 (1985/2014); §§ 31A-26-201 to 31A-26-215 (1985/2014); § 31A-26-304 (1985); § 31A-26-311 (1986); UTAH ADMIN. CODE r. 590-102-3 (1986/2013).
Vermont		VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 8, § 4791; § 4793; §§ 4795 to 4798; §§ 4800 to 4800a; §§ 4803 to 4894 (1874/2002).
Virginia	VA. CODE ANN. §§ 38.2-1845.1 to 38.2- 1845.23 (2012/2014).	VA. CODE ANN. §§ 38.2-812 to 38.2-815 (2012); ADMIN. LETTER 2012-10 (2012).
Virgin Islands		V.I. CODE ANN. tit. 22, §§ 751 to 757; §§ 774 to 793 (1968/1999).
Washington		WASH. REV. CODE ANN. § 48.17.060 (2009/2010); § 48.17.070; §§ 48.17.090 to 48.17.130; §§ 48.17.380 to 48.17.390 (2009/2010); §§ 48.17.410 to 48.17.430 (2009/2010); §§ 48.17.450 to 48.17.568 (1947); BULLETIN 90-3 (1990).
West Virginia		W. VA. CODE §§ 33-12B-1 to 33-12B-12 (1988/2013); W. VA. CODE R.; §§ 114-25-1 to 114-25-16 (1990).
Wisconsin	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY	
Wyoming		WYO. STAT. ANN. § 26-9-219; § 26-23-102 (1967/2001).

This page is intentionally left blank